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I.
HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDING



The Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) received 24 formal Complaints in response to the announcement by the Pennsylvania-American Water Company (respondent or PAWC) that it intended to convert the West Shore Regional Water Treatment Plant and the Silver Springs Water Treatment Plant from chlorinated water to chloraminated water.  These separate Complaints were filed on August 2, 2007 by Gerard & Barbara Martin at Docket No. C-20078045; on August 3, 2007 by Susan Pickford at Docket No. C-20078029, Robert & Nancy Cox at Docket No. C-20078030, Anthony Davis at Docket No. C-20078031 and Kelly Houpt at Docket No. C-20078043; on August 6, 2007 by James & Sandra Whittaker at Docket No. C-20078032, Paul & Elizabeth Hemler at Docket No. C-20078033, Lisa Walker at Docket No. C-20078034, Victoria Millard at Docket No. C-20078035, Christine & Erik Bish at Docket No. C-20078036, David & Jessica Sears at Docket No. C-20078037, Matt & Tricia Coniglio at Docket No. C-20078038, Hans & Renee Wertz at Docket No. C-20078039, Nancy Bigelow at Docket No. C-20078040, Barbara Stern at Docket No. C-20078041, William Bottonari at Docket No. C-20078042, and Arthur Sconing at Docket No. C-20078044; on August 7, 2007 by Carl Crone at Docket No. C-20078046; on August 8, 2007 by Ann Marie Judson at Docket No. C-20078051 and Adele Wilcox & John Kirk at Docket No. C-20078052; on August 9, 2007 by Sharon Landis at Docket No. C-20078050; Danielle Oakes at Docket No. C-20078061 and Priscilla Smith at Docket No. C-20078062 and on May 19, 2008 by Missak Sisserian at Docket No. C-2008-2044004.
  



Although the various Complaints were not identical, each referred to the alleged adverse health effects of using chloraminated water, and requested that the Commission prevent the company from proceeding with its program until the health issues are addressed.  



Separate Answers were filed at each docket on August 30, 2007 by respondent PAWC.
  In these Answers, PAWC denied that there is “a reliability, safety or quality problem” with its service, and explained that it had obtained the necessary Public Water Supply permits from the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), after demonstrating to DEP’s satisfaction that the proposed use of chloramines will “achieve public health goals and produce water that meets current and anticipated standards with no known health effects.”  The respondent went on to note that while research is constantly on-going regarding the effects of different water treatment techniques (including but not limited to chloramination), both DEP and the federal Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) have concluded that chloramines do not pose health problems for humans at levels used for drinking water disinfection, that public water systems in Pennsylvania and other states have been using chloraminated water for decades, and that PAWC has engaged in considerable outreach:  it mailed informational brochures to customers; provided posters to area pet stores; placed ads in local newspapers; held public information sessions, including one for interested state and local elected officials; published information on its website; contacted hospitals, dialysis centers and other critical customers; and worked with the media to increase community outreach.  Finally, the company stated that it had delayed the conversion in response to the customers’ concerns.



Along with each Answer, the company filed Preliminary Objections, asking that each Complaint be dismissed by the Commission because of lack of jurisdiction.  The company asserted that, as opposed to issues involving the quality or character of water service, the quality and purity of water is exclusively regulated in Pennsylvania by DEP and EPA pursuant to the Pennsylvania Safe Drinking Water Act (PSDWA), 35 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17, and the federal Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA), 42 U.S.C. §§300j – 300j-10, respectively.  Each Preliminary Objection was endorsed with a Notice to Plead.

On September 4, 2007, I issued a Consolidation Order, in which I consolidated the Complaints for hearing and decision purposes pursuant to 52 Pa. Code §5.81.  I determined that each of the above Complaints concerns a common question of law or fact, and that 
consolidation of these Complaints for hearing and decision purposes clearly is in the public interest so as to avoid unnecessary cost or delay.
  



On September 7, 2007, the Office of Consumer Advocate (OCA) filed a Notice of Intervention and Public Statement.  



A joint Answer to the Preliminary Objections was filed on September 7, 2007 by Ms. Pickford, an attorney, on her own behalf and for all of the other complainants.  On her cover letter, Ms. Pickford noted that the Complaints at Docket Nos. C-20078032, C-20078033, C-20078040, C-20078050 and C-20078062 should be permitted to be withdrawn by, respectively, Sandra and James Whittaker, Paul and Elizabeth Hemler, Nancy Bigelow, Sharon Landis and Priscilla Smith.  



An Answer to the Preliminary Objections was filed by OCA on September 10, 2007.



By Judge Assignment Notice dated September 11, 2007, the parties were notified that I had been assigned to the proceeding, and directed that I be served directly with any document filed in this matter.



On September 25, 2007, the Complaints at Docket Nos. C-20078032 (Whittaker) and C-20078040 (Bigelow) were withdrawn by the respective complainants.



By Initial Decision dated September 27, 2007, I granted respondent’s Preliminary Objections, finding that exclusive jurisdiction over this particular issue rests with DEP, which already had examined the company’s proposal and issued the necessary permits for the proposed conversion.



By separate Secretarial letters each dated September 22, 2007, the Commission marked closed the Complaints at Docket Nos. C-20078032 (Whittaker), C-20078033 (Hemler), C-20078040 (Bigelow), C-20078050 (Landis) and C-20078062 (Smith).



Separate Exceptions to the Initial Decision were filed by the OCA and Ms. Landis (Docket No. C-20078050).  Ms. Landis noted in her Exceptions that she had not withdrawn her Complaint.



On November 27, 2007, a Certificate of Withdrawal was filed at Docket No. C-20078062 by Ms. Smith.



On March 20, 2008, the Commission entered an Opinion and Order (March 20, 2008 Order) that reversed the Initial Decision and remanded the matter to be heard on an expedited basis.  While the Commission agreed (March 20, 2008 Order at 13) that DEP has “clear jurisdiction” over the enforcement of the PSDWA (35 P.S. §72.1 – 72.17) and the SDWA (42 U.S.C. §§300j – 330j-10), it recognized that it and DEP have overlapping jurisdiction to some degree:  “The established spheres of influence are that the Commission has regulatory authority under 66 Pa.C.S.A. §1501 over the quality of public utilities’ facilities and services, whereas DEP has primary jurisdiction over the sub-issue of water purity under the Safe Drinking Water Act.”  



The Commission in the March 20, 2008 Order at 14 determined that issues other than those directed to whether the water to be provided is in compliance with the SDWA were raised in this proceeding:  “(1) whether reasonable and adequate notice has been given to customers (distinct from the DEP’s permitting requirements); (2) whether the company’s choice of treatment alternatives and its cost and implementation was prudent and appropriate (again, distinct from the DEP’s requirements); and, (3) whether water provided at the tap is suitable for all household uses (water can be found compliant with the SDWA but can nonetheless stain laundry, be foul-smelling, sediment-laden and/or damaging to plumbing fixtures).”  



The Commission also granted Ms. Landis’ Exceptions to the extent that she was recognized as a party to the proceeding, and directed that the March 20, 2008 Order be served on DEP, stating that “Intervention by the Department of Environmental Protection in the forthcoming hearings is welcomed.”  



By Notice dated March 21, 2008, an initial prehearing conference on remand was scheduled for April 24, 2008.  On March 21, 2008, I issued a Prehearing Conference Order which contained various procedural directives.



On April 14, 2008, DEP filed a Petition to Intervene/Notice of Intervention, in which it stated that it sought intervention “for the purpose of addressing an issue of mutual interest to the Commission and the Department:  the nature and extent of overlapping jurisdiction of the Commission and the Department on water quality issues.”  Petition at ¶2.  It noted that “it is the agency with the duty and authority to administer and enforce the Pennsylvania Safe Drinking Water Act and the Safe Drinking Water Act [citations omitted],” that its interest is “to ensure that its permitting decisions are not challenged in this proceeding” and that its position is that “a service complainant may not ask the Commission to review and second guess the Department’s permitting decisions.”  (Id. ¶¶4, 5 and 7).



On that same date DEP also filed a Motion in Limine and a Memorandum in Support, in which it requested the exclusion of “evidence and testimony concerning the public health determinations made in the context of the Department’s permitting decisions to allow the use of chloramines at respondent’s drinking water facilities at issue in the instant proceeding.”  DEP explained that it fully considered the public health issues involved in the proposed use of chloramines and that if the Commission does not exclude evidence on these issues, “the Commission would be allowing these complainants to collaterally attack the Department’s permitting decisions, thus calling into question all Department permitting decisions.”  DEP further explained that “If the Commission allows the admission of evidence of adverse public health effects posed by chloramines at the levels established in the permits at issue, the Commission would be allowing a challenge to both federal and state standards.”



In accordance with the Prehearing Conference Order, prehearing memoranda were filed by PAWC, OCA, Ms. Landis (with the assistance of OCA), DEP and the complainants represented by Ms. Pickford (joint complainants).  The Prehearing Memorandum of the joint complainants was also signed by Edmund Berger, Esq., who filed a Notice of Appearance on April 22, 2008.



On April 22, 2008, PAWC filed separate responses to DEP’s Petition to Intervene and Motion in Limine.  PAWC supported both the Petition to Intervene and the Motion in Limine.  On April 24, 2008, the OCA filed a Response to the Motion in Limine, in which it generally supported DEP’s Motion in Limine, agreeing that this proceeding before the Commission should not be used as a vehicle to collaterally attack DEP’s permitting decisions, with clarification that there may be evidence presented to DEP that may be relevant to the issues concerning the quality of water service properly within the Commission’s jurisdiction.  OCA also filed a Response in which it supported the intervention of DEP.


The prehearing conference was held as scheduled on April 24, 2008.  Respondent PAWC and intervenors OCA and DEP participated through counsel.  Ms. Pickford appeared on her own behalf and also in a representative capacity for the joint complainants along with Mr. Berger.  Ms. Landis participated on her own behalf with the assistance of OCA.  The actions taken at that prehearing conference were memorialized in my Prehearing Order #1, dated May 6, 2008.



As explained in the May 6, 2008 order, I:  (1) granted DEP’s Petition to Intervene; (2) granted DEP’s Motion in Limine; (3) permitted those customers who were listed in the Complaints filed at Docket Nos. C-20078029 and C-20078030 to file separate complaints in their own names; (4) granted the request of the joint complainants and OCA that a public input hearing be held; (5) noted that the burden of proving that respondent PAWC has violated the Public Utility Code is on complainants pursuant to 66 Pa.C.S.A. §332(a); (6) modified the discovery regulations and encouraged the parties to cooperate and exchange information on an informal basis when possible; (7) granted PAWC’s request for a protective order pursuant to 52 Pa. Code §5.363; (8) included various other procedural requirements, such as those relating to the service list, filing requirements, specific requirements relating to the hearings, testimony and briefs; and (9) specifically reminded the parties of 52 Pa. Code §1.35(c), which provides that the effect of signing a document constitutes a certificate by the individual that the document is “well-grounded in fact and is warranted by existing law,” and not “interposed for an improper purpose, such as to harass or cause unnecessary delay” or expense, and that sanctions for violation of that provision are available.  


As the parties were unable to agree on a schedule at the prehearing conference, I issued a separate Scheduling Order on May 15, 2008.  In that order I also directed the joint complainants to develop and circulate to the other parties a notice to be used to provide public notice of the October 22, 2008 public input hearing.  Pursuant to that order, by Hearing Notice dated May 22, 2008, hearings were scheduled for October 28-31, 2008.


On May 20, 2008, the joint complainants filed a Petition for Review and Answer to a Material Question and Request for Stay of the Proceedings to the Extent Necessary of Complainants, Chloramine Information Center
 (“Petition for Review”) pursuant to 52 Pa. Code §5.302, in which they asserted that my ruling which granted DEP’s Motion in Limine was inconsistent with the March 20, 2008 Order and incorrect because the health effects of using chloramines have not been addressed by EPA and DEP, and because DEP’s notice requirements were inadequate.
  They therefore requested that the Commission reverse my ruling and allow them to present testimony regarding “the public health and safety issues associated with chloramines and chloramine disinfection byproducts.”  The specific material question presented to the Commission in the Petition for Review was:

Whether ALJ Chestnut’s decision, as set forth in Prehearing Order #1 . . . granting DEP’s Motion in Limine and prohibiting the introduction of evidence in this proceeding “relating to the public health determinations made in the context of DEP’s permitting decisions to allow the use of chloramines at the PAWC facilities at issue here” is inconsistent with the Commission’s March 8, 2008 Order stating that “Section 318 [of the Public Utility Code] does nothing to divest the Commission of jurisdiction over legal issues regarding water purity, and only addresses questions of fact” and in no way limits the scope of the Commission’s inquiry and review in this proceeding?



On May 22, 2008, DEP filed a Brief in Opposition to the Petition for Review in which it explained that to allow evidence relating to the public health aspects associated with the use of chloramines would obviously constitute a collateral attack on both DEP’s permitting process and decisions, as well as the standards promulgated by EPA and DEP that control the use of disinfectants in drinking water.  DEP noted that the issue concerning the adequacy of the notices required by DEP was specifically addressed in a May 2, 2008 ruling by Environmental Hearing Board Judge Bernard Labuskes, who held that the noticing process had been adequate.  Finally, DEP addressed what it characterized as “misstatements” in the Petition for Review concerning the chloramine byproducts.


On May 23, 2008, OCA filed a Brief in Response to the Petition for Review in which it requested that the Commission amend my ruling, stating that the public health evidence “should be allowed, not for the purposes of collaterally attacking DEP permitting decisions or establishing a new Safe Water Drinking Water Act (SWDA) standard, but for the different purpose of determining whether PAWC’s implementation of a chloramine disinfection process would satisfy the distinct set of legal standards that only the PUC is charged with upholding.”  OCA Brief at 5.



On May 27, 2008, the joint complainants filed their Brief in Support of the Petition for Review in which they expanded on their arguments that testimony regarding the public health effects of the proposed disinfection is within the scope of this proceeding.


On May 27, 2008, respondent PAWC filed its Brief in Opposition, stating that my ruling correctly applied the controlling law, and properly interpreted the Commission’s March 20, 2008 Order.  According to PAWC, “The Commission does not have the statutory authority to establish health based drinking water standards or to reject or modify such standards established by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), DEP and/or the EQB.  There is absolutely no controlling appellate court precedent in Pennsylvania that recognizes any authority of the Commission to reexamine public health determinations made by the EPA, the DEP or the EQB in establishing drinking water standards.”  PAWC Brief at 2.



On June 30, 2008, DEP filed a Motion and Legal Memorandum requesting an extension of time for filing the supplemental prehearing memoranda due on July 1, 2008 pursuant to the May 15, 2008 Scheduling Order, citing the pending Petition for Review.  By Order Amending Schedule dated July 2, 2008, I amended the scheduling order to provide that the supplemental prehearing memoranda (which were to include the identification of witnesses and issues) would be due within ten calendar days after entry of the Commission’s order on the Petition for Review.  That order specifically noted that the other elements of the schedule remained in effect.



By Opinion and Order adopted July 17, 2008 and entered on September 15, 2008 (September 15, 2008 Order), the Commission granted the Petition for Review, answered the Material Question in the negative, affirmed the ruling on DEP’s Motion in Limine, and permitted the introduction of “non-public health evidence that is relevant to issues within the jurisdiction of the Commission.”  The Commission at 14 stated: 

Based upon our review of this material question and the parties’ positions, as set forth in the pleadings, we agree with the ALJ’s decision to grant the DEP’s Motion in Limine.  The DEP has primary jurisdiction with regard to the public health issues related to the use of chloramines at PAWC facilities.  Therefore, allowing the introduction of public health-related evidence from the DEP permitting decisions would be improper.  The Commission will not second-guess the DEP’s permitting decisions or its public health determinations regarding the use of chloramines.  The parties may not use this venue to collaterally attack the decisions of the DEP or standards related to disinfectants properly within its authority under the federal and state safe drinking water laws.


By Further Scheduling Order dated August 6, 2008, I amended the previous scheduling orders to require the submission of the supplemental prehearing memoranda by August 15, 2008, as it was clear from the Commission’s action at its July 7, 2008 public meeting that it had affirmed my evidentiary ruling, but there was no indication when the Commission’s order would be entered.


In compliance with the August 6, 2008 order, supplemental prehearing memoranda were filed by the joint complainants and DEP on August 14, 2008 and by OCA and PAWC on August 15, 2008.



On August 19, 2008, the joint complainants filed a “Motion for Extension of Time for Providing Written Direct Testimony by Chloramine Information Center” (Motion for Extension).  Respondent PAWC filed a Response in Opposition.  By Order Denying Request for Extension dated August 20, 2008, I found the request for an extension to be unreasonable, as joint complainants had shown no good reason why their testimony could not have been prepared and served in accordance with the schedule (which had been established in May 2008), it would be extremely difficult to reschedule the hearings which had been scheduled for October 28-31, 2008 and any delay would result in a hardship for respondent and would violate the Commission’s directive that the proceeding be conducted expeditiously.



Pursuant to the litigation schedule contained in the May 15, 2008 Scheduling Order, on August 22, 2008, joint complainants served five statements on me and the other parties.  These statements purported to be the direct testimony of (1) an unidentified “civil/environmental engineer” (C.I.C. St. 1); (2) Clifford C. Conaway, Ph.D., DABT (C.I.C. St. 2); (3) Josephine M. Rakow, D.O, Borough of Camp Hill, Health Officer (C.I.C. St. 3); (4) Rod Komlenic, Ahlstrom Filtration LLC, Filtration Business Development, Vice President (C.I.C. St. 4) and (5) an unidentified “notice expert”  (C.I.C. St. 5).


Also on August 22, 2008, intervenor OCA served the direct testimony of Dr. Yuefeng Xie, President, Yuefeng Water Research, Inc., preliminarily marked as OCA St. 1.



On August 25, 2008, respondent PAWC filed separate Objections to the admissibility of C.I.C. Sts. 1, 2, 3
 and 5.  The grounds cited were that several of the statements (Sts. 1 and 5) violated 52 Pa. Code §5.372 (unidentified witnesses cannot testify) and actually do not constitute testimony at all; and that the other statements were in violation of the Commission’s March 20, 2008 Order, the May 6, 2008 Prehearing Order, the May 15, 2008 Scheduling Order and/or the August 6, 2008 Further Scheduling Order as they largely or totally were addressed to the public health issues previously determined by me and the Commission to be outside the scope of this proceeding, or addressed issues not identified in joint complainants’ supplemental prehearing memorandum.



On August 27, 2008, PAWC filed an Objection to a portion of Dr. Xie’s testimony.  



On September 4, 2008, intervenor DEP filed a “Motion to Support” PAWC’s Objections to the admissibility of C.I.C. Sts. 1, 2, 3 and 5. 



An Answer to the Objection to Dr. Xie’s testimony was filed by OCA on September 5, 2008.  



On September 15, 2008, OCA filed an Answer to the Objections to the admissibility of C.I.C. St. 2 (Conaway) and St. 3 (Rakow).  OCA did not oppose the Objections, but filed the Answer to correct what it alleged were “misstatements” made by PAWC concerning the scope of the Commission’s jurisdiction.



On September 15, 2008, I issued an Order Regarding OCA Testimony, in which I granted PAWC’s Objection, as the issue of whether the use of chloramines as a disinfectant will produce adverse health effects is not within the scope of this proceeding.  



Also on September 15, 2008, I issued an Order Regarding Testimony, in which I noted that as Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger had not filed a response to PAWC’s Objections, I considered that they had withdrawn the proposed statements and therefore granted the Objections.  



On September 30, 2008, PAWC served the written rebuttal testimony of (1) Joi Corrado, American Water, Customer Communications Manager (PAWC St. 1, and Exhs. JC-1 through JC-21); (2) Terry Maenza, Pennsylvania American Water Company, Manager of External Affairs (PAWC St. 2, and Exh. TM-1); (3) Mark W. LeChevalier, Ph.D., American Water, Director, Innovation & Environmental Stewardship (PAWC St. 3 and Exh. ML-1); (4) Rodney L. Nesmith, P.E., Department of Environmental Protection, Environmental Program Manager (PAWC St. 4 and Exh. RN-1); (5) Paul Zielinski, Pennsylvania American Water Company, Senior Director of Water Quality and Environmental Compliance (PAWC St. 5 and Exhs. PZ-1 and PZ-2); and (6) Jeffrey R. Hines, P.E., York Water Company, President and Chief Executive Officer (PAWC St. 6 and Exhs. JH-1 through JH-3).



By Public Input Hearing Notice dated October 9, 2008, a public input hearing was scheduled for October 22, 2008, to be held in Camp Hill at 9:00 a.m.  Separately, by Hearing Notices dated October 9, 2008, the evidentiary hearing scheduled for October 22, 2008 was scheduled for 1:00 p.m., and the further evidentiary hearings for October 28-31, 2008 were scheduled.



On October 10, 2008, joint complainants filed a Petition for Reconsideration relating only to that portion of my September 15, 2008 Order Regarding Testimony relating to St. 2 (Conaway), stating that they did not understand that a written response to PAWC’s objections was required.  Attached to the Petition for Reconsideration was an Answer to the Objection relating to St. 2.  



On October 10, 2008, I issued an Order Regarding Public Input Hearing, in which I addressed several issues in connection with the public input hearing that was scheduled for October 22, 2008.  I granted joint complainants’ request that it be held in Camp Hill, rather than in Harrisburg, noted that the public input hearing was limited to receiving testimony from customers who are not parties (party non-expert testimony was already scheduled to be given at the afternoon session), provided the actual notice to be used to give the customers a fair and accurate understanding of the scope of the public input hearing and directed that I and the other parties be provided with the proof of publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the service territory.



On October 14, 2008, respondent PAWC filed an Answer to the Petition for Reconsideration.  In that Answer, PAWC asserted that the Petition for Reconsideration should be denied as joint complainants were unable to justify their failure to file a timely response to PAWC’s Objection, and that if reconsideration were granted, there were substantive and procedural reasons why the testimony should not be permitted.



On October 14, 2008, I received the “Joint Complainants Application for Issuance of a Subpoena,” in which the joint complainants requested that a subpoena be issued for the appearance of Cindy Hitz at the October 28, 2008 hearing. 



On October 15, 2008, OCA filed a Motion to Revise Order Regarding Public Input Hearing, in which OCA asked me to revise my October 10, 2008 Order Regarding Public Input Hearing by eliminating the requirement concerning notice to the public, as there is no “statutory or regulatory requirement” for such notice, and that advertising the public input hearing would be “unduly burdensome.”  OCA asked that this Motion be addressed by me no later than October 16, 2008, the date by which an advertisement would need to be confirmed for Sunday publication in a newspaper of general circulation.



On October 16, 2008, a further prehearing conference was conducted telephonically to address the outstanding procedural issues.  I granted the OCA’s Motion in part (modifying the notice requirement to make it clear that the responsibility for publication of the notice was on joint complainants, who explicitly accepted this expense at the initial prehearing conference
) and denied it otherwise because it is obvious that the affected members of the public need to be informed of the opportunity to present their testimony.  Tr. 107, 113.  I told the parties that I was not prepared to address the joint complainants’ subpoena application because of numerous procedural deficiencies.  Tr. 120.  I reminded both Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger of the professional responsibilities that attached as soon as they appeared in this proceeding in a representative capacity.  Tr. 123.  I denied the pending Petition for Reconsideration, making it clear that I thought it was completely meritless (Tr. 128-129), but deferred issuing a ruling in order to give the joint complainants an opportunity to withdraw it.  Tr. 124-126, 130-31.  Finally, I asked the attorneys appearing on behalf of the joint complainants to articulate their position so that I and the other parties understood the issues to be addressed.  Tr. 136-138.



Later on October 16, 2008, respondent PAWC filed an Objection to the subpoena Application, citing numerous reasons why the Application should be denied.  By e-mail dated October 19, 2008, Ms. Pickford withdrew the Application.



On October 17, 2008, respondent PAWC filed a Motion in Limine to Exclude Non-Expert Witnesses of Joint Complainants (PAWC Motion in Limine) relating to the hearing scheduled for October 22, 2008.  PAWC stated that the joint complainants had not provided the names, addresses and subject matter of any non-expert witnesses by October 15, 2008 (five business days before the scheduled October 22, 2008 hearing) in violation of my May 5, 2008 Prehearing Order #1, and that this placed a “hardship on PAWC’s ability to prepare and present cross-examination.”  PAWC therefore requested that I exclude the testimony of any non-expert witnesses at the October 22, 2008 hearing and cancel the hearing.



In order to ensure that Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger understood that a response was required as soon as possible, on October 17, 2008 I issued an order (Order Regarding PAWC Motion in Limine) directing that any response to the PAWC Motion in Limine must be filed with the Commission and served on me and the parties no later than 4:30 p.m. on October 21, 2008 and served electronically on me and the other parties no later than 12:00 p.m., October 21, 2008.



Separate responses to the Motion were filed by intervener OCA and, with OCA’s assistance, Ms. Landis (Docket No. C-20078050) on October 17, 2008 and on October 18, 2008 by the joint complainants, who attached a listing of complainants (including Ms. Pickford) who were intending to present testimony at the evidentiary hearing scheduled for 1:00 p.m. on October 22, 2008.



On October 20, 2008, I issued an Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part PAWC’s Motion in Limine, in which I denied the motion with respect to any of the complainants (since PAWC was on notice of their names and concerns from their respective Complaints) and granted it with respect to any other factual witnesses.  I also corrected Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger’s apparent misunderstanding concerning who would be permitted to testify at the public input hearing by noting that the purpose of a public input hearing is to receive the comments of non-party members of the public, who have no other way of expressing their concerns, while the evidentiary hearing scheduled in the afternoon was for the purpose of presenting non-expert (i.e., factual) testimony from party witnesses (including the complainants) presented by the represented parties, in accordance with the schedule adopted by my May 5, 2008 Scheduling Order.



On October 20, 2008, joint complainants served the written surrebuttal testimony of Rodney Komlenic.



On October 20, 2008, respondent Pennsylvania-American Water Company filed and served a Motion to Cancel Permanently Hearing for Failure to Comply with October 10, 2008 Order Regarding Public Input Hearing (Public Input Hearing Motion), relating to the public input hearing scheduled for 9:00 a.m., October 22, 2008.  In its Public Input Hearing Motion, PAWC explained that the notice Ms. Pickford had published was not the notice that I had attached to my October 10, 2008 Order Regarding Public Input Hearing.  Instead she had published the proposed notice that I had specifically rejected in that Order, a notice which varied substantially from the notice that I had directed be used in this proceeding.



In order to ensure that Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger understood that a response was required as soon as possible, on October 20, 2008 I issued an order (Order Regarding PAWC’s Motion to Cancel Hearing) concerning when any response to the motion must be filed with the Commission and served on me and the parties. 


In her Answer, Ms. Pickford admitted that she had used the wrong notice, that she had not checked it prior to providing it for publication.



On October 21, 2008, by Order Denying PAWC Motion to Cancel Hearing, I expressly rejected her contention that the mistake was understandable (there is absolutely no excuse, no matter the time constraint, for not taking a minute to ensure that the correct notice was supplied to the newspaper, the two notices were not similar in appearance so even a quick glance would have sufficed) or immaterial.
  Despite her unprofessional and unacceptable behavior, I denied the Motion and did not cancel the public input hearing.  I explained that I was mindful of the effect of cancellation on customers who, because they were not represented by Ms. Pickford, should not be penalized because of her actions.



The public input hearing was held as scheduled at 9:00 a.m. on October 22, 2008 in Camp Hill, PA.  Joint complainants, OCA, DEP and PAWC were present through counsel.  Nineteen people testified.  I asked for a show of hands, and it was clear that their concerns primarily were addressed to possible adverse health effects associated with the use of chloramines.  As I had feared, due to the wording of the notice that had been published, the nature and scope of the proceeding had not been made clear and there was a substantial amount of ill-feeling expressed toward me and the Commission, as well as the company.



The afternoon session, scheduled to receive factual testimony that had not been submitted in written form, was held on October 22, 2008.  Ten complainants (Martin, Sears, Judson, Bish, Coniglio, Cox, Bottonari, Houpt, Wilcox and Kirk) testified.
  Ms. Cox sponsored five exhibits (Exhs. C-1, C-2, C-3, C-4 and C-5) that were admitted into the record.  Ms. Landis testified in her own behalf.



On October 24, 2008, PAWC filed an Objection to the surrebuttal testimony of Mr. Komlenic.  The basis for the objection was that the statement contained improper surrebuttal testimony that was not responsive to rebuttal testimony and should have been included in his direct testimony, thus violating my Prehearing Order #1 and 52 Pa. Code §5.5243(c) and depriving respondent of the opportunity to conduct discovery or to present responsive testimony.



An Answer to the Objection was filed on October 27, 2008 by joint complainants, asserting that the proffered testimony was responsive to PAWC’s rebuttal testimony.



Also on October 27, 2008, the joint complainants filed an objection to PAWC St. 6, the rebuttal testimony of Mr. Hines.  The basis for the objection was that Mr. Hines should have testified at the public input hearing, since he was testifying to his own experience as a customer using chloraminated water.  Joint complainants claimed that PAWC failed to identify the area of Mr. Hines’ expertise “among the references to sports, Boy Scouts, social clubs and many military activities which make up his resume.” 



On October 27, 2008, PAWC filed an Answer to the Objection, noting that the objection was untimely, and that Mr. Hines was not only testifying as a customer who uses chloraminated water, but clearly stated the basis of his expertise on page 1 of his statement:  “I am President and Chief Executive Officer of the York Water Company.  I have a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering with a concentration in Water Resources and a Master’s degree in Business Administration.  I am also a licensed professional engineer in Pennsylvania and Maryland and certified water works operator and waste operator in Pennsylvania.  I am a past chairman of the Pennsylvania chapter of the National Association of Water Companies.  I am currently a Director of the Board of the National Association of Water Companies.  I am also a member of the Lower Susquehanna River Water Resources committee and I am also a member of the Department of Environmental Protection’s Water Resources Advisory Committee.  From 1990 to 1995 I was the Engineering Manager at York Water.  From 1995-2006 I was York Water’s Vice President of Engineering and from 2007-2008 I was York Water’s Chief Operating Officer.  I was named President and Chief Executive Officer in early 2008.”  PAWC characterized as “simply incredible” joint complainants’ objection that Mr. Hines “has not set forth the experience, special knowledge or opinions . . . to be permitted to testify as an expert.”



On October 29, 2008, the further hearing was held as scheduled.  Joint complainants presented Rodney Komlenic, who sponsored Sts. 4 and 4-S (revised)
.  At the conclusion of joint complainants’ case in chief, PAWC made an oral motion pursuant to 52 Pa. Code §5.103(c)(3) to dismiss the Complaints, for failure to establish a prima facie case with respect to the three issues that had been raised in this proceeding.



I granted the motion in part, finding that joint complainants had failed to present evidence that chloraminated water would be unsuitable for household use, or that PAWC had abused its managerial discretion in deciding to implement the chloramination.  I denied it with respect to the issue of whether the notice provided was adequate, finding that a prima facie case may have been established.  Tr. 431, 434-435.  PAWC presented its notice witnesses, Joi Corrado and Terry Maenza, who respectively sponsored and adopted PAWC Sts. 1 and 2, and the associated exhibits.  



At the hearing, OCA and PAWC announced that they had reached a settlement, which was filed with the Commission on that day.
  On October 30, 2008, DEP filed a Statement in Support.  Although the joint complainants had previously been provided with the terms, Ms. Pickford asked for additional time to determine whether they would join in the settlement. 



On November 4, 2008, Ms. Landis filed a certificate of withdrawal at Docket No. C-20078050; on November 5, 2008, I issued an order (Order Severing Complaint) severing her Complaint so that it could be processed by the Commission.



As I was informed that the joint complainants chose not to join in the settlement, on November 5, 2008 I issued an Order Concerning Briefs which modified the briefing schedule so as to provide that complainants’ brief was due on November 21, 2008 and respondent’s reply brief was due on December 3, 2008.



Subsequently, Ms. Pickford asked for an extension, because she was unable to file the brief when due.  This was granted, and joint complainants’ Brief was filed on November 25, 2008.  PAWC and DEP filed Reply Briefs on December 5, 2008.



The record, which was closed upon the filing of the Reply Briefs on December 5, 2008, consists of joint complainants Sts. 4 and 4-S(revised) and associated exhibits; PAWC Sts. 1 and 2 and associated exhibits; various hearing and cross-examination exhibits and a transcript of 490 pages.



On February 2, 2009, I provided a Notification to the Parties of the Taking of Official Notice (Official Notice), as required by 52 Pa. Code §5.408(c).  The Official Notice related to the DEP’s approvals, including the dates the notices required as part of that process were published in the Pennsylvania Bulletin.  I provided the parties until February 10, 2009 to object to the taking of official notice or to provide additional facts to be noticed.  By letter dated February 5, 2009, DEP responded to the Notification by suggesting that I clarify that the permits were issued pursuant to the Safe Drinking Water Act.  By letter dated February 6, 2009, PAWC had no objection to the taking of the official notice.  By letter dated February 9, 2009, joint complainants did object to the taking of official notice, although it should be noted that the facts contained in the Notification were referenced by joint complainants themselves in their proposed findings of fact.  On February 10, 2009, OCA filed a Motion for Clarification of Official and Judicial Notice of Fact to suggest that it be made clear that the DEP approval was intended in part to address current and anticipated drinking water standards.



As discussed in more detail below, the various Complaints should be denied, as there is insufficient evidence to establish that respondent PAWC violated the Public Utility Code in any way.  In fact, the company should be commended for its responsiveness to the concerns expressed by its customers, its restrained conduct throughout this litigation and its willingness to undertake obligations pursuant to the settlement that would never have been ordered as the result of this proceeding.  Also to be commended is OCA, which worked with the company to constructively address the issues raised by the customers regarding the transition.

II.
FINDINGS OF FACT


1.
The 19 Complaints which are the subject of this proceeding were filed by customers of Pennsylvania-American Water Company who object to the company’s proposal to switch from chlorinated water to chloraminated water.   The complainants are Susan Pickford (Docket No. C-20078029), Robert and Nancy Cox (Docket No. C-20078030), Anthony F. Davis (Docket No. C-20078031), Lisa M. Walker (Docket No. C-20078034), Victoria Millard (Docket No. C-20078035), Christine and Erik Bish (Docket No. C-20078036), David and Jessica Sears (Docket No. C-20078037), Matt and Tricia J. Coniglio (Docket No. C-20078038), Hans and Renee Wertz (Docket No. C-20078039), Barbara Stern (Docket No. C-20078041), William V. Bottonari (Docket No. C-20078042), Kelly L. Houpt (Docket No. C-20078043), Arthur J. Sconing (Docket No. C-20078044), Gerard E. and Barbara Martin (Docket No. C-20078045), Carl L. Crone (Docket No. C-20078046), Ann Marie Judson (Docket No. C-20078051), Adele Wilcox and John Kirk (Docket No. C-20078052), Danielle Oakes (Docket No. C-20078061) and Missak Sisserian (Docket No. C-2008-2044004).
  



2.
The respondent is Pennsylvania-America Water Company, a certificated public utility.

3. PAWC sought and was granted construction and operating permits on the West Shore Regional and Silver Springs treatment plants from 2003 to 2006.  Joint complainants proposed Finding of Fact #1.



4.
PAWC planned to transition its disinfection process in certain service areas (including Camp Hill, East Pennsboro, Enola, Fairview, Hampden, Lemoyne, Lower Allen, Newberry, New Cumberland, New Kingston, Shiremanstown, Silver Springs, Upper Allen, West Fairview and Wormleysburg) during the week of August 12, 2007.  PAWC Exh. JC-8.



5.
PAWC prepared and distributed press releases to print and electronic media in Cumberland, Dauphin, Lebanon and York Counties announcing the start-up of the new treatment plant (the West Shore Regional Treatment Plant) in April and May 2006.  The press release also was published on PAWC’s website.  The press release included a statement that “The facility was also built with the ability to transition to chloramines versus chlorine in the future, which reduces disinfection by-products and the taste of chlorine in the water.”  PAWC St. 1 at 3-4; PAWC Exhs. JC-2, JC-3.



6.
PAWC sent mail and e-mail invitations for a July 12, 2007 informational meeting to local and state officials, as well as to Commission, OCA and DEP representatives.  At that meeting, PAWC gave a presentation that included discussion of chloramination, when the transition would take place, the affected areas, areas where chloramines were already in use, precautions for dialysis patients and fish owners, and the upcoming communication plan and public meetings.  Tours of the two treatment plants (the newly constructed West Shore Regional Treatment Plant and the modified Silver Springs Water Treatment Plant) also were provided.  PAWC St. 1 at 4-5; PAWC Exhs. JC-5, JC-6, JC-7.



7.
On July 12, 2007, PAWC, via first-class mail, sent 35,411 brochures to customers which discussed the transition to chloramines, the planned transition date of August 12, 2007, the chloramination process, the areas to be affected, precautions for kidney dialysis patients and fish owners and information regarding two upcoming public meetings.  The mailing was followed by a news release to regional print and broadcast media outlets on July 12, 2007.  The brochure and news release were posted on PAWC’s website.  PAWC St. 1 at 5; PAWC Exh. JC-8.



8.
On July 13, 2007, PAWC sent brochures to hospitals, dialysis centers and pet stores.  The mailings to pet stores included four posters for each pet store to put customers on notice of the need to remove chloramine from the water used for pet fish tanks (as must also be done for chlorinated water).  PAWC St. 1 at 6; PAWC Exhs. JC-10, JC-11.



9.
On July 13, 2007, PAWC made individual telephone calls to almost 80 hospitals, dialysis centers, supermarkets and other major users to notify them of the transition and answer questions.  PAWC St. 1 at 6.



10.
During the weeks of July 15 and 22, 2007, PAWC placed advertisements in local newspapers (the Harrisburg Patriot-News, Carlisle Sentinel, York Daily Record and York Dispatch) announcing the planned transition.  PAWC St. 1 at 6; PAWC Exh. JC-14.  



11.
On July 20, 2007, PAWC began printing on individual customers’ bills a message regarding the switch to chloramination.  PAWC St. 1 at 6.



12.
PAWC conducted two separate meetings at the Lemoyne Community Building on July 16, 2007 (at 10:00 a.m. and 7 p.m.) at which it gave a presentation and answered questions.  PAWC St. 1 at 7; PAWC Exh. JC-15.



13.
In July 2007, PAWC updated its website to include links to EPA and DEP information on chloramines in drinking water and to provide access to PAWC’s presentation, contacted local officials to see if they had received questions and attended a meeting of Silver Springs Township on August 9, 2007.  PAWC St. 1 at 7.



14.
The notice given by PAWC was based on its successful past experience and practice in giving notice to customers regarding the switch to chloramines in other PAWC systems.  Tr. 459, 468.



15.
PAWC voluntarily delayed the chloramines implementation to receive further input from the public and to provide customers with additional information.  On August 10, 2007, PAWC sent a news release about the delay to media outlets, the PUC, OCA and other state agencies, sent an e-mail notification to local officials and updated its website to reflect the delay and provide links to further DEP information on chloramines.  Tr. 473; PAWC St. 1 at 7; PAWC Exhs. JC-16, JC-17.



16.
Six out of nineteen customers who testified at the public input hearing that was held on October 22, 2008 felt that the notice provided by PAWC (apart from the notices mandated by DEP) did not allow sufficient time to prepare for the transition to chloramination.  Tr. 171, 189, 194, 204, 210 and 214.



17.
Seven of the ten complainants who testified stated that they believed the notices provided were inadequate; two of those seven witnesses admitted that they either do not read bill inserts on a regular basis, or they did not read this particular notice.  Tr. 264-67, 267, 269, 273-74, 281, 322 and 325.



18.
At the time PAWC made the decision to switch to chloramination, the filtration technology sold by joint complainants’ witness Rodney Komlenic was not on the market, was not used by any public company and had not been tested at any public water supply facility.  Tr. 381-82; 384.



19.
The filtration technology discussed by joint complainants’ witness Rodney Komlenic has yet to be tested or used by any public water supplier.  Tr. 384.



20.
None of the lay witnesses who testified on behalf of the joint complainants regarding the issue of suitability had first-hand experience in using chloraminated water.



21.
Chloramination is widely accepted by the federal Environmental Protection Agency as an effective treatment to prevent the waterborne transmission of parasites.  PAWC Exh. JC-8.



22.
PAWC already uses chloramines in Norristown, Butler, Ellwood City, Brownell/Fallbrook, Clarion and Phoenixville.  PAWC Exh. JC-8; Tr. 462.



23.
On October 29, 2009, OCA and PAWC filed a Joint Petition for Settlement, supported by DEP, in which PAWC agreed to do the following, regardless of the resolution of the Complaints, in order to maintain water quality and consumer confidence in the quality of the water provided by PAWC:
a) monitor for nitrification, and undertake an action plan in case of nitrification (Settlement at ¶¶1 and 2);

b) test ten homes selected by OCA for increased lead levels (Settlement at ¶3);

c) provide certain information to customers at least three months prior to implementing chloramination (Settlement at ¶4);

d) monitor developments related to the health effects and regulations concerning nitrogenous and iodinated disinfectant byproducts, and annually post a summary of its findings (Settlement at ¶5); and

e) make prudent changes to treatment and/or facilities as may be necessary to conform to changes in regulatory requirements (Settlement at ¶6).

III.
DISCUSSION
A. Burden of Proof

Section 701 of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. §701, provides that any person may complain, in writing, about any act or thing done or omitted to be done by a public utility in violation, or claimed violation, of any law which the Commission has the jurisdiction to administer, or of any regulation or order of the Commission.  Section 332(a) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §332(a), provides that the proponent of a rule or order from the Commission has the burden of proof.  As the parties seeking affirmative relief from the Commission, the burden of proof is upon joint complainants in this proceeding.

Therefore, they have the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that PAWC has violated the Public Utility Code, or a Commission regulation or order.  Patterson  v. Bell Telephone Co. of Pa., 72 Pa. PUC 196 (1990).  Preponderance of the evidence means that the party with the burden of proof has presented evidence that is more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by the other party.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. Public Utility Comm’n, 578 A.2d 600, 602 (1990), alloc. den., 602 A.2d 863 (1992).

In Waldron v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 54 Pa. PUC 98 (1980), the Commission explained the process of meeting the burden of proof.  In accordance with Waldron, joint complainants have the burden to put forth evidence establishing a prima facie case that PAWC violated the Public Utility Code, a tariff provision or a Commission order or regulation.  If joint complainants establish a prima facie case, the burden of going forward (but not the ultimate burden of proof), shifts to the utility to rebut the prima facie case with evidence which is at least co-equal.  If that occurs, then the burden of going forward shifts back to the joint complainants, who must rebut the adverse parties’ evidence by a preponderance of the evidence.  Poorbaugh v. West Penn Power Company, Docket No. C-00934745, 1994 Pa. PUC LEXIS 95.  Although the burden of going forward with the evidence may shift from one party to another during a proceeding, the “burden of proof” (burden of persuasion) never shifts.  It always remains on the complainant.  Replogle v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, 54 Pa. PUC 528 (1980).

Establishing a prima facie case requires either evidence sufficient to make a finding of fact permissible or evidence to create a presumption against an opponent which, if not met, results in an obligatory decision for the proponent.  The Pennsylvania Supreme Court has held that when a litigant has the “burden of proof,” it means that his claim will not be accepted until he offers sufficient proof to support it.  Se-Ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 48, 70 A.2d 854, 856 (1950).  In matters before the Commission, the burden of proof is met when the party establishes the necessary facts by a preponderance of the evidence.  A preponderance of the evidence is that degree of proof which “fairly out-weighs the probative value of any proof offered against the claim.”  Se-Ling Hosiery, 364 Pa. at 48-49 (emphasis in original).

Additionally, any finding of fact necessary to support the Commission’s adjudication must be based upon substantial evidence.  Mill v. PA Public Utility Comm’n, 67 Pa.Commw. 597, 447 A.2d 1100 (1982), Edan Transportation Corp. v. Pa. Public Utility Comm’n, 154 Pa.Commw. 21, 623 A.2d 6 (1993), 2 Pa.C.S. §704.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  Norfolk and Western Ry. v. Pa. Public Utility Comm’n, 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980).  Mere bald assertions, personal opinions or perceptions, when not substantiated by facts, do not constitute evidence.  Pa. Bureau of Corrections v. City of Pittsburgh, 516 Pa. 75, 532 A.2d 12 (1987); Mid-Atlantic Power Supply Assoc. v. Pa. Public Utility Comm’n, 746 A.2d 1196, 1200 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2000).

B. Reasonableness and Adequacy of Notice

In connection with the construction of the West Shore Regional Treatment Plant and the modifications of the Silver Springs Water Treatment Plant, throughout the period 2003 -2006 PAWC published in the Pennsylvania Bulletin the various notices required by DEP during its construction and operating permitting process.
In April and May 2006, the company prepared and distributed press releases to print and electronic media in Cumberland, Dauphin, Lebanon and York Counties, and posted the releases on its website.  While the emphasis was on the announcement of the start-up of the new treatment plant, the press releases noted that “The facility was also built with the ability to transition to chloramines versus chlorine in the future, which reduces disinfection by-products and the taste of chlorine in the water.”  

Then, once the decision had been made to implement the transition to chloraminated water at both plants on August 12, 2007, PAWC did the following, starting in July 2007:

(1)
PAWC sent mail and e-mail invitations for a July 12, 2007 informational meeting to local and state officials, as well as to Commission, OCA and DEP representatives.  At that meeting, PAWC gave a presentation (posted on its website) that included discussion of chloramination, when the transition was scheduled to take place, the areas to be affected, areas where chloramines were already in use, precautions for dialysis patients and fish owners, and the upcoming communication plan and public meetings.  Tours of the two treatment plants also were provided.  PAWC representatives subsequently contacted local officials to see if they had received questions from residents.

(2)
PAWC periodically updated its website to include links to EPA and DEP information on chloramines in drinking water, as well as the brochure that was sent on July 12, 2007 to customers, the various press releases and presentations.

(3)
On July 12, 2007, PAWC sent, via first-class mail, 35,411 brochures to customers which discussed the transition to chloramines, the planned transition date of August 12, 2007, the chloramination process, the service areas to be affected, precautions for kidney dialysis patients and fish owners and information regarding two upcoming public meetings.  Brochures also were sent (on July 13, 2007) to hospitals, dialysis centers and pet stores.  The mailings to pet stores included four posters for each pet store to put customers on notice of the need to remove chloramine from the water used for pet fish tanks (as must also be done for chlorinated water).  

(4)
On July 13, 2007, PAWC made individual telephone calls to almost 80 hospitals, dialysis centers, supermarkets and other major users to notify them of the transition and answer questions.

(5)
During the weeks of July 15 and 22, 2008, PAWC placed advertisements in local newspapers (the Harrisburg Patriot-News, Carlisle Sentinel, York Daily Record and York Dispatch) announcing the planned transition.  

(6)
PAWC held two public meetings at the Lemoyne Community Building on July 16, 2007 (at 10:00 a.m. and 7 p.m.) at which it gave a presentation and answered questions.  PAWC representatives attended a meeting of Silver Springs Township on August 9, 2007.  

(7)
On July 20, 2007, PAWC began printing on individual customers’ bills a message regarding the switch to chloramination.  

Joint complainants have alleged that the notice provided by respondent PAWC to inform its customers of the transition to chloramination was inadequate and therefore in violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa.C.S. §1501.  Section 1501 requires that 
jurisdictional utilities provide service, used in its broadest sense, that is “adequate, efficient, safe and reasonable.”
  

Joint complainants’ position, generally, is that the notices provided by PAWC were inadequate because they did not give customers sufficient time to prepare for the transition to chloramination.  They alleged that the press releases issued by PAWC in April and May 2006 did not indicate that the transition was actually going to occur but instead emphasized the opening of the new West Shore treatment plant (joint complainants’ Brief at 7-8), that the information session held in July 2007 was not open to the general public (id. at 7-8) and that the only notice provided to the customers concerning the transition was provided less than 30 days prior to the intended implementation (id. at 7-10).

Joint complainants also allege that PAWC “deliberate[ly] delayed providing adequate notice to its customers so that the customers were unable to present their health and environmental concerns to DEP, that this “speaks clearly to the surreptitious nature with which PAWC deals with its customers.”  Brief at 10-11.  “By deliberately denying the customers notice during the permitting process, PAWC was able to quietly but permanently close the door to comments and objections in the only forum available to customers on issues of health and environmental concerns.”  Id. at 14.

PAWC’s response is that the issue is moot as the company voluntarily delayed the transition and therefore no customers suffered any harm, and that the efforts undertaken were reasonable and adequate and an appropriate exercise of its managerial discretion.  Brief at 9-15.

As a preliminary matter, this issue cannot include examination of the reasonableness or adequacy of the various notices required by DEP throughout the permitting process.  As has been explained many times, this proceeding cannot be used to collaterally attack DEP’s findings.  See, e.g., the Commission’s March 20, 2008 Order at 14.  As noted by PAWC in its Brief at 11-12, the Environmental Hearing Board addressed and rejected joint complainants’ contention that the DEP-mandated notices were inadequate, finding that the notices were not “inaccurate, incomplete or misleading.”  Pickford v. Pennsylvania-American Water Company, No. 2007-266-L, 2008 WL 2081196 at *2 (Pa. E.H.B. May 2, 2008).

Also, joint complainants’ assertions that PAWC deliberately withheld notice so that customers could not challenge the DEP permits, or has acted “surreptitiously” are outrageous and without any foundation whatsoever.  

Turning to the issues raised by this claim, the first to address is PAWC’s preliminary assertion that the issue is moot, as no customer has actually been harmed since the change in disinfectants was postponed by PAWC in response to the customers’ expressed concerns.  As stated in its Brief at 12, “Joint complainants cannot plausibly argue they have not been given adequate notice of an event that has since been postponed, has not yet occurred, and on which a public input and evidentiary hearings have been conducted.”  The company also notes that the issue is moot because pursuant to the settlement reached with OCA, the company will provide at least three months advance notice to customers before switching to chloramines.  

While the company is correct that as a legal requirement there must be an “actual controversy extant at all stages of review, not merely at the time the complaint is filed,”
 that requirement is satisfied here.  While no customer has actually been affected by the allegedly inadequate notice, the issue of whether the actions taken by the company constitute a violation of the Public Utility Code remains unresolved.  As explained by the Commission in Gary v. The New Power Co., Docket No. C-20028376, Initial Decision dated June 9, 2003 adopted by Final Order entered July 29, 2003:

A case is moot when it no longer presents a justiciable controversy because the issues involved have become academic or dead.  Sigma Chi Fraternity v. Regents of the University of Colorado, 258 F.Supp. 515 (D.C. Colo., 1966).  When the matter in dispute in a case has already been resolved so that the entitlement to judicial intervention is no longer present, a case is moot.  Super Tire Engineering Co. v. McCorkle, 416 U.S. 115, 94 S.Ct. 1694, 40 L.Ed2d 1 (1974).

Here, there is still a justiciable controversy.  Therefore, the evidence presented by joint complainants will be examined to determine if they have satisfied their burden of presenting substantial evidence to establish a prima facie case that PAWC has rendered inadequate service in violation of 66 Pa.C.S.A. §1501.  Clearly, they have not.

The only evidence presented by joint complainants was the testimony of, at most, thirteen customers who felt the notice was inadequate because it was untimely, in that the company did not send out the brochures until thirty days prior to the planned transition, did not hold the informational meeting open to the public until July 16, 2007 and that they therefore did not have adequate time to prepare.

While I recognize the sincerity of these customers’ beliefs, the fact remains that – with one possible exception – the testimony they gave simply is legally insufficient to provide a basis for a Commission finding that PAWC violated the Public Utility Code.  These statements represent conclusions and personal opinions, not substantiated by specific facts, and therefore, pursuant to Pa. Bureau of Corrections v. City of Pittsburgh, do not constitute evidence.  Not one person testified as to any act that they were unable to take as the result of the alleged lack of timely notice.  For example, there was no testimony that any person was unable to install a whole house filter because such installation would take more than thirty days.
   

One person (Ms. Levinne) testified at the public input hearing that although she is not a customer, her parents are and she was concerned about the effect of chloraminated water on her father, who is undergoing dialysis.  She stated that she was concerned that there would not be sufficient time to have a whole house filter installed prior to the transition (although neither she nor any other customer testified as to how long it would take a whole house filter to be installed) and that her father would need to use bottled water in the meantime.  Tr. 205-06.

This is the only testimony that could possibly give any support to the joint complainants’ assertion that the company should have given more than the thirty-days notice.  This testimony alone, however simply is insufficient to support a finding that PAWC violated the Public Utility Code.  Mainly this is because Ms. Levinne didn’t specify why the thirty days was not long enough to take whatever action she deemed necessary but also because the company’s actions simply do not warrant such a finding.

As correctly noted by the company, there is no specific Commission regulation or order determining the amount of time that customers must be informed whenever a water company changes its choice of disinfectant.  Therefore, the company had to exercise its discretion as to how to proceed once the decision to implement the conversion was made.

It is well-established that the Commission cannot “interfere with the management of a utility unless an abuse of discretion or arbitrary action taken by the company has been shown.”  Pa. Public Utility Comm’n v. Philadelphia  Elec. Co., 561 A.2d 1224, 1226-27 (Pa. 1989).  There is simply no evidence that PAWC abused its discretion or took arbitrary action.

It was reasonable for the company to employ the same methods of communication as it has used successfully in the past for similar conversions to chloramination.  The entire publicity campaign – which included press releases, plant tours, advertisements, direct mailings, contact with regulators and community leaders, pet store posters, informational meetings, bill inserts, individual telephone calls to major users, posting of information on the company website etc. – was employed by the company based on its prior experience, and was reasonably implemented.  

The efforts undertaken by the company did exactly what they were supposed to do – used a variety of platforms to give its customers accurate information as to what was going to happen, and an appropriate opportunity to have those concerns addressed.
  I agree that “concerned customers clearly had sufficient time to voice their concerns and the various forms of notice provided by PAWC adequately served this intended purpose.”  PAWC Brief at 13.  

The customers who testified that the various forms of notice provided during July 2007 (I agree that the various press releases issued in 2006 did not provide specific information that the company would be switching from chlorine to chloramines, and leaving aside the question of the adequacy of the DEP notices) asserted that those notices provided them with insufficient time to prepare, but not one was able to give an example of any act that they were prevented from undertaking because there was insufficient time.  Obviously, had the company undertaken the direct communication efforts earlier, then customers would have had a longer period of time to undertake whatever efforts they felt necessary, but that is not the issue.  Rather, the question is whether 30 days was sufficient time for notice to be provided, and there simply is no evidence – much less the quantum of evidence necessary to support a Commission finding – that PAWC violated the Public Utility Code by implementing a comprehensive communication program that it had used successfully in the past, and that obviously was sufficient for the vast majority of its customers in connection with the current conversion, that 30 days was an unreasonable period of time for the company to have selected.

Joint complainants have failed to sustain their burden of establishing by a preponderance of substantial evidence that the notice provided by PAWC to its customers violated Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa.C.S.A. §1501, by constituting service that is not “adequate, efficient, safe and reasonable.” 

C.
Choice of Treatment Alternatives
The second issue that the Commission determined could be addressed in this proceeding was “whether the company’s choice of treatment alternatives and its cost and implementation was prudent and appropriate (again, distinct from the DEP’s requirements) . . .”  Commission March 20, 2008 Order at 14.  Upon the conclusion of joint complainants’ case in chief, I determined that they had failed to establish a prima facie case and granted PAWC’s oral motion to dismiss this claim.

As noted above, the management discretion doctrine provides that utilities are granted broad discretion to manage their operations.  The decision as to how to comply with the water quality requirements of DEP (and EPA) is a clear instance of managerial discretion which cannot be overturned by the Commission except when an abuse of discretion has occurred.  See, Northern Pennsylvania Power Co. v. Pa. Public Utility Comm’n, 333 Pa. 265, 267-68, 5 A.2d 133, 134-35 (1939):  “The Public Utility Commission is not a super board of directors for the public utility companies of the state and it has no right of management of them.  . . . while the State may regulate with a view to enforcing reasonable rates and charges, it is not the owner of the property of public utility companies and is not clothe[d] with the general power of management incident to ownership.”

The Commission has recognized that it “. . . may not interfere with or micromanage utility management decisions, unless there is a manifest abuse of discretion or some showing of arbitrary utility action.”  Rahn et al. v. Pennsylvania-American Water Co., Docket No. C-20054919, Commission Opinion and Order entered July 27, 2007, citing Pa. Public Utility Comm’n v. Philadelphia Electric Co., 522 Pa. 338, 561 A.2d 1224 (1989); and Petition of Frank Bankard, Docket No. P-00052172 (April 21, 2006).  The decision must not be examined in hindsight but in light of what the utility knew or should have known at the time the decision was made.  Pa. Public Utility Comm’n v. Philadelphia Electric Co., 561 A.2d at 1227.  

Therefore, joint complainants need to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that PAWC’s decision in 2004 to employ a disinfectant treatment that has been in use for decades and which has been approved by EPA and DEP was arbitrary or a manifest abuse of discretion, examined in light of what PAWC knew or should have known at the time the decision was made.  

No testimony whatsoever was presented by joint complainants as to what factors or alternatives PAWC considered in its decision to switch from chlorine to chloramines as a disinfectant.  Joint complainants could have conducted discovery, deposed the appropriate PAWC personnel involved in the decision-making process or subpoenaed them as witnesses.  Then, after they established on the record what PAWC had actually done and the circumstances surrounding the decision-making process, they could have presented expert testimony from an appropriate witness (obviously, one with public water supply management expertise) that PAWC failed to consider other reasonable alternatives, that a prudent similarly situated water utility would have proceeded differently.  They did none of this.  

Instead, joint complainants presented the testimony of Rodney Komlenic, Ahlstrom Filtration LLC, Filtration Business Development Vice President, CIC St. 4, and St. 4-S (revised).  While I did accept him as an expert in water filtration, no probative weight should be placed on his testimony, for a number of reasons.  First, he admitted that the filtration systems sold by his company have only been available since 2006 (NanoCeram) and 2007 (Disruptor) and so neither were on the market in 2004 when PAWC made the decision to change disinfectants (Tr. 381-82), that this filtration system is not used by any public water system and that no public water system in the United States has agreed to do a pilot study (Tr. 384).  Clearly, no reasonable person could conclude that PAWC abused its discretion by failing to consider this untested system – that wasn’t even on the market in 2004 – instead of selecting a disinfecting treatment that has been widely used for decades and has been approved by the regulatory agencies charged with protecting the public health.

In addition, he tried to disavow his own cost estimates, which he didn’t prepare himself but “just passed along” and “as they appeared here [in his statement], I was surprised to see them.”  Tr. 347.  As he stated himself, “No, the numbers cannot be validated or defended, because they were only provided as estimates without technical, scientific data.”  Tr. 349.  Indeed, he admitted that there were numerous reasons why his proffered cost estimate (i.e., the annual cost to PAWC to utilize his company’s product) was of no probative value because “There’s a lot that’s missing.”  (Tr. 402), such as:  they were based on the volume of water expected to be treated by one of the plants but not the other, they do not include maintenance costs, they do not include disposal costs, or the cost to construct a building to house the filters, or even how often the filters would need to be replaced.  Tr. 400- 403.

Also, he agreed that certain statements contained in PAWC X-Exh. 1 (a notice sent out by Ms. Pickford for a public demonstration of his company’s filtration device, that he objected to because he felt it was misleading without reference to an underlying company report) was identical to language contained in his direct statement, which also did not have the report appended.  Tr. 390-91.  When informed that his testimony had been presented without attaching the report, he professed himself “surprised,” stating, “I thought it would have been submitted.”  Tr. 393, 396.

Whatever expertise he demonstrated was limited solely to use of the filtration system developed and sold by his company, and is of little relevance in this proceeding.  Mr. Komlenic readily admitted that “I wasn’t called here as an expert on municipal water filtration or municipal water treatment or plant design.  I’m not an engineer; I’m a generalist in liquid filtration.” (Tr. 351), that he is not licensed in Pennsylvania to design public water supply systems, and that he has never worked for a municipal-scale water system (Tr. 381).  Obviously, joint complainants recognize that no weight can be placed on the testimony of their own witness, as Mr. Komlenic is not even mentioned in their Brief.  

In their Brief at 18, joint complainants assert that my “dismissal of these issues was an abuse of discretion and error of law inasmuch as the record reflects testimony by complainants and customers relevant to this issue.”  

With respect to the testimony by customers and complainants, obviously they were presented as fact witnesses.  None had any first-hand knowledge of the circumstances surrounding the company’s decision-making process, or were in a position to express an opinion as to whether a reasonable or prudent water utility in PAWC’s situation would have acted differently.  Certainly they can testify as to their concerns or actions they intend to take (and did so), but that testimony cannot support a finding that PAWC committed a manifest abuse of discretion.  As stated in PAWC’s Brief at 16, “None of the non-expert witnesses testifying on behalf of joint complainants was in the position to opine on the propriety of PAWC’s management decision, let alone as to whether it was arbitrary or an abuse of discretion.  To the extent customers expressed their concerns on the record, their lay testimony concerns cannot and do not address the facts and circumstances of PAWC’s decision to switch to chloramine, and thus cannot provide the basis for a prima facie claim that the decision was unreasonable.”

Obviously, lay (non-expert) witnesses cannot present expert testimony.  None of the customers who testified were qualified as experts.  DEP explained the scope of testimony that can be given in administrative proceedings by lay witnesses in its Brief at 7-8:  “Although evidentiary rules in administrative proceedings tend to be more lenient, the Pa. Supreme Court has unequivocally stated that any relaxation of the rules of evidence cannot allow lay witnesses to testify to technical matters ‘without personal knowledge or specialized training.’ Gibson v. W.C.A.B., 861 A.2d 938, 947 (Pa. 2004) (holding Rules of Evidence 602, 701 and 702 generally applicable in agency proceedings).  Under Pennsylvania Rules of Evidence 701, lay opinion ‘is limited to those opinions or inferences which are rationally based on the perception of the witness and helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and not based on scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge.’  Pa.R.E. 701.  The complainants expressed their concerns about chloramines.  In addition, none of the complainants testified from personal experience with chloramines but rather expressed their concerns about chloramines based on their own lay opinions.”

Lay opinions (for example, the rate of speed of a car that the witness has observed)
 may be expressed by non-expert witnesses only where (1) the witness has actually perceived the situation and (2) the opinion is not based on scientific, technical or specialized knowledge.  As none of the customers had first-hand knowledge of the factors considered by PAWC in its choice of treatment alternatives, and the determination of the prudency of such a decision necessarily requires the exercise of scientific, technical or specialized knowledge, this issue was not an appropriate subject of lay testimony.

Although joint complainants in their Brief assert that PAWC “continuously” objected to portions of the testimony of customers as hearsay . . . and that the testimony is not hearsay and therefore is admissible (Brief at 18), this demonstrates a clear lack of legal understanding.
  The fact that these customers have these concerns
 is not hearsay, and was not objected to by the company.  It is the basis for these concerns that is hearsay.  Just because a customer expresses a concern – without any competent, supporting evidence in the record – does not establish the validity of that concern, or even that those particular concerns were not properly considered by PAWC.
  

Again, mere bald assertions, personal opinions or perceptions, when not substantiated by facts, do not constitute evidence.  Pa. Bureau of Corrections v. City of Pittsburgh, supra.  As none of these lay witnesses had any first-hand knowledge of the factors that went into PAWC’s decision, their opinions cannot be used as evidence to support a Commission finding.

Simply put, joint complainants failed to adduce any testimony as to what factors were considered by PAWC, or any alternatives whose cost or implementation could be compared to PAWC’s decision to use chloramines.  Therefore, as no factual or credible expert testimony was presented regarding PAWC’s decision-making process or choice of alternatives, my decision that joint complainants had failed to establish a prima case was correct as there is no evidence to support a finding in this proceeding that PAWC committed a manifest abuse of discretion or acted arbitrarily so as to constitute a violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code. 

D.
Suitability for Household Uses


The final issue identified by the Commission in its March 20, 2008 Order at 14 as being appropriately considered in this proceeding is “whether water provided at the tap is suitable for all household uses (water can be found compliant with the SDWA but can nonetheless stain laundry, be foul-smelling, sediment-laden and/or damaging to plumbing fixtures).”

Upon the conclusion of joint complainants’ case in chief, I determined that they had failed to establish a prima facie case and granted PAWC’s oral motion to dismiss this claim.  Joint complainants’ position is that this was “an abuse of discretion and error of law inasmuch as the record reflects testimony by complainants and customers relevant to this issue.”  Brief at 18.



First, it should be noted that PAWC has not yet implemented the changeover to chloramines from chlorine.  Therefore, no customer was able to testify that chloraminated water provided by PAWC is unsuitable for household use.  Nor did any customer testify from any first-hand experience with chloraminated water.
  Rather, they testified about fears and concerns about using this treated water.  These lay opinions, without a supporting factual basis, simply are not evidence that can be used to support a Commission finding that PAWC violated the Public Utility Code.

Therefore, as no factual or credible expert testimony was presented regarding the suitability for household use of the water that will be provided, my decision that joint complainants had failed to establish a prima case was correct as there is no evidence to support a finding in this proceeding that PAWC committed a violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code. 

E.
Petition for Reconsideration


As noted above, joint complainants claim that my decision (and, presumably my denial of their Petition for Reconsideration) excluding the prepared direct testimony of Dr. Conaway was improper and an abuse of discretion.  They claim that I improperly converted the objections of PAWC and DEP to a motion without a notice to plead and, therefore, they were not required to respond.  Joint Complainants Brief at 23-24:  “Procedurally, it was an error of law for the ALJ to address the objections as a motion without notice and an opportunity to respond.”  In their Petition for Reconsideration, they explained that they “did not believe that the Commission’s rules required [them] to present a written response” because they “believed the objections would be addressed at the time of the presentation of the testimony.”  Petition for Reconsideration at ¶2.



Clearly, these arguments must be rejected.  Regardless of whether PAWC and DEP’s pleadings were considered to be motions or objections, there was no good reason for Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger not to understand that a response should have been made.  Both Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger are experienced attorneys – in fact, Mr. Berger was retained specifically because of his experience in appearing before the Commission – and should have responded to the possibility of having four of their five statements precluded.  This is true whether the actual pleading is titled as an objection or as a motion.  Both OCA and DEP understood that a response was appropriate, and did so in a timely fashion.



For Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger to assume that the Objections to their direct testimony would be addressed at the hearing was completely unreasonable and without any foundation.  To delay ruling on the Objections until the hearing as joint complainants suggest would have imposed an unnecessary and expensive burden on all the parties, including the joint complainants.  As explained by PAWC in its Brief at 23, “PAWC’s Objection requested that Dr. Conaway’s Testimony be ruled inadmissible in its entirety.  The same day that PAWC filed PAWC’s Objection, PAWC also filed objections requesting that three other of Joint Complainants’ witness statements be ruled inadmissible in their entirety:  Objection of PAWC to the Admissibility of C.I.C. Statement 1 - Unidentified Expert Witness, Objection of PAWC to C.I.C. Statement 1 - Dr. Josephine Catherine Muski Rakow, D.O.; and Objection of PAWC to the Admissibility of C.I.C. Statement 5 - Unidentified Expert Witness.  If  PAWC’s objections were not ruled upon until the expert witness hearing, Joint Complainants would have been required to pay Dr. Conaway and the other witnesses to travel to Harrisburg and attend the hearing despite the possibility that PAWC’s objections would be sustained and that these witnesses would not be permitted to testify.  In addition, PAWC (and, potentially, DEP) would have had to prepare and serve written rebuttal testimony, which was required to be served on or before September 30, 2008, with respect to these witness statements, and would have been required to pay its rebuttal witnesses to travel to Harrisburg and attend the hearing, again, despite the possibility that PAWC’s objections would be sustained and that the rebuttal testimony would be unnecessary.  It is difficult to believe that Joint Complainants expected that parties would be required to undertake this expense and burden when it could be avoided simply by PAWC’s objections being ruled on before the hearing.”

This is why it is my standard practice to include in a prehearing order a provision like the one contained in my May 6, 2008 Prehearing Order #1 at ¶14:  “That any motions with respect to, or objections to, written testimony must be presented in writing no later than three days prior to the day that the witness sponsoring that testimony is scheduled to testify.  Oral motions, other than for good cause, shall not be accepted.”  I have included that provision in prehearing orders for years.  I normally do not include a specific response period in my prehearing orders because there is not a standardized amount of time between the submission of written testimony and the scheduled hearing.  Rather, I have always trusted in the professionalism and good faith of the practitioners who appear before the Commission to understand that they are to use their best efforts to respond in a timely fashion.  Until now, that has never been a problem. 

Since the prehearing order did not contain a specific response period, in my September 22, 2008 Order Regarding Testimony, I applied the 20-day response period applicable to general motions in order to allow joint complainants the maximum time period to respond to the Objections, even though I recognized that this operated to the detriment of PAWC and DEP, whose rebuttal testimony was due to be served on September 30, 2008.  Pursuant to 52 Pa. Code §§5.103 and 5. 156(b), I therefore determined that a response would have been due on September 17, 2008, and waited ten days thereafter to ensure that I would have received any response.  

The fact that I referenced 52 Pa. Code §§5.103 and 5.156(b) in my order does not mean that because there was no notice to plead that Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger were excused from responding.  As correctly noted by PAWC in its Brief at 24, unlike the practice in civil proceedings, the Commission’s regulations do not excuse a party from filing a responsive pleading in the absence of a notice to plead.  See, 52 Pa. Code §5.103(c), cf. Pa. R. Civ. P. 1026.  Indeed, it has been common practice in this proceeding for parties (including joint complainants) to file motions not endorsed with a notice to plead.  See, for example, joint complainants’ Motion for Extension of Time.  Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger – attorneys who by appearing in a representational capacity in this proceeding have a professional obligation to provide competent representation to their clients pursuant to Pa.R.P.C. 1.1 – knew or should have known that a response was required.

I could have excluded the four statements on other procedural or substantive grounds, as each of them were largely or completely improper (either because they contained testimony determined in numerous orders to be outside the scope of the proceeding, were not identified in joint complainants’ supplemental prehearing memorandum, were without proper foundation or were not competent, or, the case of the two non-witnesses presented as the statements of an unidentified “civil/environmental engineer” and an unidentified “notice expert,” were not testimony at all).  I did not do so, in part to spare Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger professional embarrassment and instead issued a very narrow ruling.

No good cause was presented by Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger, two experienced attorneys, for their failure to answer the objections made by PAWC and DEP to the various statements they submitted.  Therefore my rulings (my September 22, 2008 Order Regarding Testimony and my oral denial of joint complainants’ Petition for Reconsideration) were not improper or an abuse of discretion.

F. 
Settlement


In recognition of the Commission’s policy encouraging settlements, the company and OCA reached an understanding concerning certain steps that PAWC agreed to undertake, regardless of the outcome of this proceeding.  This agreement was reduced to writing and a Joint Petition for Settlement (Settlement Petition) was filed with the Commission on October 29, 2008.  I commend both parties (and DEP, which supports adoption of the settlement) for recognizing that both the company and its customers can benefit from this agreement, which clearly is designed to help maintain water quality and consumer confidence in the quality of the water provided by PAWC.  It is unfortunate that the joint complainants did not join in the settlement, which perhaps would have reduced the time and expense of litigation.

The Settlement Petition consists of the Petition itself, which describes the specific activities that PAWC agreed to undertake, Appendix A (OCA’s Statement in Support) and Appendix B (PAWC’s Statement in Support).  On October 30, 2008, DEP filed a separate Statement in Support.

PAWC agreed to (1) monitor for nitrification, and undertake an action plan in case of nitrification (Settlement at ¶¶1 and 2); (2) test ten homes selected by OCA for increased lead levels (Settlement at ¶3); (3) provide certain information to customers at least three months prior to implementing chloramination (Settlement at ¶4); (4) monitor developments related to the health effects and regulations concerning nitrogenous and iodinated disinfectant byproducts, and annually post a summary of its findings (Settlement at ¶5); and (5) make prudent changes to treatment and/or facilities as may be necessary to conform to changes in regulatory requirements (Settlement at ¶6).

It is not clear that the Commission needs to approve the terms of the settlement, as this agreement does not resolve the issues raised in the Complaint, it involves a number of actions within the scope of DEP’s jurisdiction (as recognized by the parties themselves in the Settlement Petition at 2) and the company has agreed to take these steps regardless of the outcome of the litigation.  If Commission approval is required, however, then obviously the Settlement Petition should be approved as being in the public interest.
  It represents reasonable and appropriate actions that directly address the concerns raised by the customers in this proceeding.  

It is obvious that both OCA and PAWC were careful to listen to what the customers had to say, and correctly recognized that those concerns about the implementation of the change in disinfectants from chlorine to chloramines were better considered through a negotiated settlement rather than through the context of this complaint proceeding.  

The joint complainants gave no reason for deciding not to join in the settlement, and did not address it in their Brief.  Therefore, they have waived their right to challenge the reasonableness and propriety of any of its terms and conditions.  Jackson v. Kassab, 812 A.2d 1233, 1235 (Pa.Super. 2002); Pa. Public Utility Comm’n v. Pennsylvania-American Water Co., 99 Pa. PUC 4 (2004).

IV.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1.
The Commission has jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this proceeding.

2.
The burden of proof in this proceeding is upon joint complainants, as the parties seeking affirmative relief from the Commission.

3.
The burden of proof must be carried by a preponderance of the evidence.  Preponderance of the evidence means that the party with the burden of proof has presented evidence that is more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by the other party.  
4.
Joint complainants have the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that PAWC has violated the Public Utility Code, or a Commission regulation or order.  

5.
Any finding of fact necessary to support the Commission’s adjudication must be based upon substantial evidence.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  

6.
Mere bald assertions, personal opinions or perceptions, when not substantiated by facts, do not constitute evidence.  

7.
If joint complainants establish a prima facie case, the burden of going forward, but not the ultimate burden of proof, shifts to the utility to rebut the prima facie case with evidence which is at least co-equal.  If that occurs, then the burden of going forward shifts back to the joint complainants, who must rebut the adverse parties’ evidence by a preponderance of the evidence.  

8.
Establishing a prima facie case requires either evidence sufficient to make a finding of fact permissible or evidence to create a presumption against an opponent which, if not met, results in an obligatory decision for the proponent.  When a litigant has the “burden of proof,” it means that the claim will not be accepted until he offers sufficient proof to support it.  

9.
The Commission may not interfere with or micromanage utility management decisions, unless there is a manifest abuse of discretion or some showing of arbitrary utility action.  The decision must not be examined in hindsight but in light of what the utility knew or should have known at the time the decision was made.  

10.
Lay opinion is limited to those opinions or inferences which are rationally based on the perception of the witness and helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and not based on scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge.

11.
Hearsay evidence, properly objected to, is not competent evidence to support an administrative agency’s findings and even if admitted without objection, must be corroborated by competent evidence in the record, as a finding of fact based solely on hearsay will not stand.    

12.
Joint complainants have failed to sustain their burden of establishing by a preponderance of substantial evidence that the notice provided by PAWC to its customers violated Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa.C.S.A. §1501, by providing service that is not “adequate, efficient, safe and reasonable.” 

13.
Joint complainants have failed to sustain their burden of establishing by a preponderance of substantial evidence that PAWC committed a manifest abuse of discretion or acted arbitrarily so as to constitute a violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 1501 66 Pa.C.S.A. §1501, in its choice of treatment alternatives.

14.
Joint complainants have failed to sustain their burden of establishing by a preponderance of substantial evidence that PAWC committed a violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa.C.S.A. §1501, by providing water not suitable for household uses. 

15.
The Complaints at Docket Nos. C -20078029, C-20078030, C-20078031, C-20078034, C-20078035, C-20078036, C-20078037, C-20078038, C-20078039, C-20078041, C-20078042, C-20078043, C-20078044, C-20078045, C-20078046, C-20078051, C-20078052, C-20078061, and C-2008-2044004 must be denied for failure of the complainants to satisfy their burden of proof.

16.
To determine whether the parties’ settlement should be approved, the Commission must decide whether it promotes the public interest.   

17.
The terms and conditions contained in the Joint Petition for Settlement filed by PAWC and OCA, and supported by DEP, are just, reasonable and in the public interest.

18.
The Joint Petition for Settlement filed by PAWC and OCA, and supported by DEP, should be approved by the Commission without modification, if such approval is required.

V.
ORDER

THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED:

1. 
That the Complaint of Susan K. Pickford against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078029 is denied;

2.
That the Complaint of Robert and Nancy Cox against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078030 is denied;

3.
That the Complaint of Anthony Davis against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078031 is denied;

4.
That the Complaint of Lisa Walker against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078034 is denied;

5.
That the Complaint of Victoria Millard against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078035 is denied;

6.
That the Complaint of Christine and Erik Bish against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078036 is denied;

7.
That the Complaint of David and Jessica Sears against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078037 is denied;

8.
That the Complaint of Matt and Tricia Coniglio against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078038 is denied;

9.
That the Complaint of Hans and Renee Wertz against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078039 is denied;

10.
That the Complaint of Barbara Stern against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078041 is denied;

11.
That the Complaint of William Bottonari against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078042 is denied;

12.
That the Complaint of Kelly Houpt against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078043 is denied;

13.
That the Complaint of Arthur Sconing against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078044 is denied;

14.
That the Complaint of Gerard and Barbara Martin against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078045 is denied;

15.
That the Complaint of Carl Crone against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078046 is denied;

16.
That the Complaint of Ann Marie Judson against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078051 is denied;

17.
That the Complaint of Adele Wilcox and John Kirk against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078052 is denied;

18.
That the Complaint of Danielle Oakes against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-20078061 is denied;

19.
That the Complaint of Missak Sisserian against Pennsylvania-American Water Company at Docket No. C-2008-2044004 is denied; and
20.
That the record at Docket Nos. C-20078029, C-20078030, C-20078031, C-20078034, C-20078035, C-20078036, C-20078037, C-20078038, C-20078039, C-20078041, C-20078042, C-20078043, C-20078044, C-20078045, C-20078046, C-20078051, C-20078052, C-20078061, and C-2008-2044004 be marked closed.

	Date:
	February 12, 2009
	
	

	
	
	
	Marlane R. Chestnut

Administrative Law Judge
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Respondent


:

___________________________

JOINT PETITION FOR SETTLEMENT

___________________________


The following terms of this Joint Petition For Settlement (“Settlement”) are offered to resolve the Office of Consumer Advocate’s (“OCA’s”) intervention in the above-captioned proceeding regarding Pennsylvania-America Water Company’s (“PAWC’s”) decision to switch to chloramination. The OCA will make no further argument regarding the merits of the switch, except that the OCA reserves the right to make legal argument regarding the issue of the scope of the PUC’s jurisdiction, if it deems necessary.  Acceptance and performance of the following terms will result in what the OCA deems to be a satisfactory resolution of the issue of safe implementation of a change of disinfection from chlorine to chloramine at PAWC’s West Shore Regional Treatment System and Silver Springs Treatment System.


The OCA and PAWC acknowledge that Paragraphs 1 through 3 are within the scope of the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection’s jurisdiction to implement and enforce the federal and state Safe Drinking Water Acts.

1. 
If PAWC proceeds with chloramination as authorized by the DEP-issued permits, it will immediately undertake the Mechanicsburg Sampling Plan (PAWC Response to Pickford Set I-16) to monitor for nitrification, in compliance with its permit requirements.  Monitoring will continue for PAWC's water distribution system receiving water from the West Shore Regional Treatment Plant and Silver Springs Treatment Plant, for as long as PAWC uses chloramines in these systems, absent any regulatory changes or DEP-issued modifications requiring PAWC to do otherwise.

2.
PAWC will finalize an action plan to use in case of nitrification consistent with the requirements of the DEP permits, in advance of chloramination being implemented.  That action plan will include a description of nitrification circumstances under which the following remedies should be taken: (1) switch to chlorination for two weeks; (2) increased distribution system flushing; (3) superchlorination at increased high dosage; or (4) breakpoint chlorination.  PAWC will provide training as necessary to all employees necessary to carry out the action plan effectively.

3.  
  Subject to DEP review and approval and as part of routine monitoring to remain in compliance with regulations regarding lead in drinking water, PAWC will monitor lead at the homes of ten (10) customers selected by the OCA.  The monitoring shall continue during such time that PAWC may use chloramines as a disinfectant to water delivered to the customer, and if the customer desires such monitoring. 

4. 
Notification: At least three months prior to implementing a change to chloramination, PAWC will provide the following information.  PAWC will send its affected customers both a copy of its online pamphlet regarding chloramination and a clear and conspicuous notice with the anticipated date of implementation.  PAWC will provide an advance copy to the OCA for review.  PAWC will also improve the information on its web site, using as a model the information posted by the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission on chloramines.  Information will include topics of: removal of chloramines from household water; link to NSF filter information; effect on household plumbing; chloramines disinfection byproducts; health and safety issues for customers and pets.  PAWC will provide training to customer service representatives concerning the above and concerning filters capable of effective filtration of chloramines and chloramines byproducts, such that these employees will be sufficiently familiar with the above educational materials to provide an informed response to customer inquiries.

5.  
PAWC will be vigilant in monitoring the developments related to the health effects and regulations concerning nitrogenous and iodinated disinfection byproducts.  A summary of its findings will be posted annually at its website.

6.
PAWC will make prudent changes to treatment and/or facilities as may be necessary to conform with changes in regulatory requirements.

7.
While the OCA itself will make no further argument in this proceeding regarding the merits of PAWC’s planned switch to chloramination, the OCA will continue to assist Ms. Sharon Landis with procedural matters, as the OCA sees fit.


In addition to the above terms, the OCA and PAWC (collectively, “Joint Petitioners”) have each prepared and attached their Statement in Support setting forth their reasons for entering this Settlement, identified as Appendices A and B, respectively.


This Settlement is intended to resolve the OCA’s concerns in this case and is conditioned upon the Commission’s approval of the terms and conditions contained herein without modification. Joint Petitioners reserve their rights to file Exceptions with respect to any modifications to the terms and conditions of this Settlement.  The Joint Petitioners also reserve the right to file Replies to any Exceptions that may be filed.  If the Commission should disapprove the Settlement or modify the terms and conditions herein, this Settlement may be withdrawn by either of the Joint Petitioners upon written notice to the Commission and all active parties within five business days following entry of the Commission’s Order and, in such event, shall be of no force and effect.  In the event that the Commission disapproves the Settlement or a Joint Petitioner elects to withdraw as provided above, the Joint Petitioners reserve their respective rights to fully litigate this case, including but not limited to presentation of witnesses, cross-examination and legal argument through submission of Briefs, Exceptions and Replies to Exceptions. This Settlement is entered into by the Joint Petitioners without any admission against, or prejudice to, any position which any Joint Petitioner might adopt during subsequent litigation, including further litigation of this case.  


The Joint Petitioners agree that this Settlement shall not constitute or be cited as controlling precedent in this or any other jurisdiction.  


The Joint Petitioners submit that approval of this Settlement is in the public interest.  In recognition of the Commission’s policy in favor of seeking negotiated settlements to contested proceedings, the Joint Petitioners have reached a resolution to this dispute as embodied in this Settlement.  Approval of this Settlement will permit the Commission and Joint Petitioners to avoid incurring the time, expense, and uncertainty of further litigation.  


WHEREFORE, the Joint Petitioners, by their respective counsel, respectfully request that: (1) Administrative Law Judge Marlane R. Chestnut and the Commission approve this Settlement, including all terms and conditions contained herein; (2) this Settlement shall become effective immediately upon the entry of a Final Order by the Commission ratifying and accepting this Settlement in its entirety without modification.

Respectfully submitted, 

	Pennsylvania-American Water Company
By:______________________________

	
	Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
By:__________________________________










Michael D. Klein, Esquire


Dianne E. Dusman


Susan Simms Marsh, Esquire


Senior Assistant Consumer Advocate 







Darlene R. Wong


Counsel for:




Assistant Consumer Advocate


Pennsylvania-American 









Water Company



Counsel for:








Irwin A. Popowsky








Consumer Advocate

DATED:  October 29, 2008

APPENDIX B
Statements and Exhibits PICKFORD et al v PAWC, C-20078029 
	Date
	Party
	Caption
	Description
	Exhibits/Attachments
	Admitted

	8/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	CIC St. 1
	Direct testimony:  Unknown engineer
	
	Objections sustained, 9/25/08 order

	8/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	CIC St. 2
	Direct testimony:  Clifford C. Conaway, Ph.D., DABT
	
	Objections sustained, 9/25/08 order

	8/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	CIC St. 3
	Direct testimony:  Josephine M. Rakow, D.O., Borough of Camp Hill, Health Officer
	
	Objections sustained, 9/25/08 order

	8/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	CIC St. 4
	Direct testimony:  Rod Komlenic, Ahlstrom Filtration LLC, Filtration Business Development, Vice President
	
	10/29/08

	8/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	CIC St. 5
	Direct testimony:  Unknown - notice
	
	Objections sustained, 9/25/08 order

	8/22/08
	OCA
	OCA St. 1
	Direct testimony:  Dr. Yuefeng Xie, President, Yuefeng Water Research, Inc.

Appendix A
	
	Objection sustained, 9/25/08 order

	9/30/08
	PAWC
	PAWC St. 1
	Rebuttal testimony: Joi Corrado, American Water, Customer Communications Manager
	Exhs. JC-1 through JC-21
	10/29/08

	9/30/08
	PAWC
	PAWC St. 2
	Rebuttal testimony:  Terry Maenza, Pennsylvania American Water Company, Manager of External Affairs
	Exh. TM-1
	10/29/08

	9/30/08
	PAWC
	PAWC St. 3
	Rebuttal testimony:  Mark W. LeChevalier, Ph.D., American Water, Director, Innovation & Environmental Stewardship
	Exh. ML-1
	Not presented

	9/30/08
	PAWC
	PAWC St. 4
	Rebuttal testimony:  Rodney L. Nesmith, P.E., Department of Environmental Protection, Environmental Program Manager
	Exh. RN-1
	Not presented


	9/30/08
	PAWC
	PAWC St. 5
	Rebuttal testimony: Paul Zielinski, Pennsylvania American Water Company, Senior Director of Water Quality and Environmental Compliance
	Exhs. PZ-1 and PZ-2
	Not presented

	9/30/08
	PAWC
	PAWC St. 6
	Rebuttal testimony:  Jeffrey R. Hines, P.E., York Water Company, President and Chief Executive Officer
	Exhs. JH-1 through JH-3
	Not presented

	10/20/08
	Jt. Complainants
	CIC St. 4-S
	Surrebutal testimony:  Rodney Komlenic
	
	10/29/08, redacted/

objections

	10/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	Exh. C-1
	Cox:  PAWC chloramine notice
	
	10/22/08

	10/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	Exh. C-2
	Cox:  PAWC bill inserts
	
	10/22/08

	10/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	Exh. C-3
	Cox: PAWC bill insert
	
	10/22/08

	10/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	Exh. C-4
	Cox:  PAWC customer letter re:  line protection program
	
	10/22/08

	10/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	Exh. C-5
	Cox:  PAWC WQ results sent to customer
	
	10/22/08

	10/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	Exh. C-6
	Cox:  Field guide to SWDA regulations
	
	Not admitted

	10/22/08
	Jt. Complainants
	Exh. C-7
	Houpt:  Ashtabula Rubber Company web page
	
	Not admitted

	10/29/08
	PAWC
	X-Exh. 1
	Komlenic: demonstration notice
	
	10/29/08

	10/29/08
	PAWC
	X-Exh. 2
	Komlenic:  Ahlstrom report, 8/7/08
	
	10/29/08

	10/29/08
	Jt. Complainants
	X-Exh. 1
	Maenza:  Bill insert, 8/08
	
	10/29/08

	
	
	
	
	
	

	11/5/08
	Jt. Complainants
	St. 4-S (revised)
	Surrebuttal:  Rodney Komlenic (redacted)
	
	10/29/08


� 	The Complaints at C-20078029 and C-20078030 contained the names and addresses of individuals other than Ms. Pickford and Mr. and Ms. Cox.  These individuals are not complainants as they did not sign or verify the Complaints, and did not file complaints in their own names, although given the opportunity to do so.


� 	The Answer to the Sisserian Complaint at Docket No. C-2008-2044004 was filed on June 19, 2008.


� 	I did not become aware of the Sisserian Complaint at Docket No. C-2008-2044004 until August 14, 2008; on that date, by Consolidation Order #2, I consolidated that Complaint with the others.  Ms. Pickford indicated in response to my query that she was representing Mr. Sisserian in this proceeding.


� 	These complainants (Docket Nos. C-20078029, C-20078030, C-20078031, C-20078034, C-20078035, C-20078036, C-20078037, C-20078038, C-20078039, C-20078041, C-20078042, C-20078043, C-20078044, C-20078045, C-20078046, C-20078051, C-20078052, C-20078061 and later, C-2008-2044004) appearing jointly through Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger do not include Ms. Landis (Docket No. C-20078050).


� 	Although the joint complainants can refer to themselves as they wish, and came up with the term Chloramine Information Center as a shorthand designation (Tr. 13 -14), I am not comfortable using that term, which makes it seem as if the Chloramine Information Center as an entity is a party when the record shows that no complaint was filed in that name.  See, Order Denying Request for Extension, August 20, 2008, footnote 1; Order Regarding Testimony, September 25, 2008, at footnote 1. 





� 	As part of the DEP approval process, notice of the various applications and approvals was provided in the Pennsylvania Bulletin:  33 Pa.B. 3526 (July 19, 2003); 34 Pa.B. 2125 (April 17, 2004), 34 Pa.B. 6253 (November 20, 2004), 35 Pa.B. 1621 (the March 5, 2005) and 36 Pa.B. 1786 (April 15, 2006).





� 	In its Objection, PAWC refers to the statement of Dr. Rakow as C.I.C. St. 1 rather than C.I.C. St. 3.  The reason is that each page of the testimony does contain that designation; the cover page, which designates the statement as C.I.C. St. 3, was not provided electronically, and PAWC had not received the hard copy of the statement when it prepared its Objection.


� 	Tr. 96:  ALJ:  “You know, you are the complainants here.  You are going to have to be responsible for the notice.”  Mr. Berger:  “We are requesting one session.  Sure.”  See also, Tr. 56.


� 	It must be remembered that Ms. Pickford is not appearing pro se in this proceeding.  As an attorney appearing in a representative capacity, she has an absolute professional obligation, pursuant to Pennsylvania Rule of Professional Conduct Rule 1.1 to “provide competent representation to a client.  Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation.”  This requirement is imperative, not permissive.


� 	Although she presented herself as a witness, Ms. Pickford chose to continue in her representational capacity and not to appear as a witness when Rule 3.7 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Professional Conduct was brought to her attention.  


� 	As the result of my rulings at the hearing on the various objections, his surrebuttal statement had to be extensively revised and was resubmitted in a redacted form on November 5, 2008.


� 	The Joint Petition of Settlement is attached as Appendix A.





� 	The Complaint was closed by Secretarial letter dated December 19, 2008.





� 	See Appendix B, a listing of statements and exhibits.


� 	Complaints at Docket Nos. C-20078032, C-20078033, C-20078040, C-20078050 and C-20078062 were withdrawn by the various complainants. 


� 	As explained in the many rulings by myself and the Commission, the determination of whether the service provided is “safe” does not include the public health determinations made by EPA and DEP in their administration of the state and federal safe water drinking standards, statutes and regulations, although the Commission certainly can consider whether the water provided by a utility is in compliance in determining whether service is inadequate.


� 	In Re: Gross, 382 A.2d 116, 119 (Pa. 1978).


� 	In addition, a number of statements made by customers are simply incorrect (. . . customers were notified by a flier less than two weeks before implementation was to be conducted”, Tr. 194) or reflected the customers own failure to pay attention to communications from the company (Tr. 266, 325).


� 	Again, while Ms. Levinne’s testimony shows the importance of giving customers adequate time to prepare, she in fact gave no reason why 30 days was not long enough, or how much time would have been required to take whatever actions she and her parents thought were necessary.  


� 	Kearns v. DeHass, 546 A.2d 1226, 1235 (Pa.Super. 1988).





� 	PAWC was put in the position of having to make these objections because Ms. Pickford and Mr. Berger failed to prepare their witnesses, with the result that much of the testimony was improper.  See, Tr. 258, 286.  





� 	These concerns were identified in their Brief at 18 as “regarding pipe corrosion, fish life in tanks and backyard ponds and filtration costs . . . the issue of the need, or the lack thereof, to implement this change given current compliance with EPA regulations and a compliance date of 2012 for Stage 2 regulations.”





� 	Of course, hearsay evidence, properly objected to, is not competent evidence to support an administrative agency’s findings and even if admitted without objection, must be corroborated by competent evidence in the record, as a finding of fact based solely on hearsay will not stand.  Walker v. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 367 A.2d 366, 370 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1976).   





� 	Many cities in the United States have been using chloramines for decades, and PAWC already uses chloramines in Norristown, Butler, Ellwood City, Brownell/Fallbrook, Clarion and Phoenixville.  PAWC Exhs. JC-7 and JC-8; Tr. 461-62.


� 	In fact, I discussed this very reasoning when addressing DEP’s Motion in Limine at the April 24, 2008 prehearing conference.  Tr. 31-32.


� 	To determine whether the settlement should be approved, the Commission must decide whether it promotes the public interest.  Pennsylvania Public Utility Comm’n v. C.S. Water and Sewer Associates, 74 Pa. PUC 767 (1991); Pennsylvania Public Utility Comm’n v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 60 Pa. PUC 1 (1985).
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